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H. Carl McCal, Comptroller of the State of New Y ork, as Administrative Head of New Y ork
State and Loca Retirement Systems and as Trustee of the New Y ork State Common Retirement Fund
(the "NY SCRF"), by his undersigned attorneys, hereby submitsthis memorandum in opposition to the
motion filed by Sdomon Smith Barney, Inc. ("Sdomon’), Citigroup, Inc. ("Citigroup™), and Jack
Grubman ("Grubman") (collectively, the "SSB Defendants’ or “ Defendants’) to sever Counts I X
through X1 from the consolidated complaint filed by the NY SCRF on October 11, 2002 (“Complaint”)

and transfer those three claimsto Judge Barbara S. Jones for consolidation with In re Sdomon Andyst

Cases, Magter File No. 02 Civ. 3687 (BS)) (the "Sdomon Anayst Litigation”).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

After its appointment as Lead Plaintiff on August 12, 2002, the NY SCRF did what the Court’s
appointment obligated it to do: undertake to investigate, evaluate, and assert al cdlamsthat should be
brought on behdf of the putative Class of WorldCom stock and bond purchasers it represents. By the
timeit filed its Complaint sixty days later, the NY SCRF had concluded that the facts surrounding the
WorldCom debacle judtified bringing eeven securities law cdlams againgt avariety of defendants. By
this motion, the defendants in five of those claims ask the Court to divide those clams into two pieces,
keeping two of the claims here and sending three others to another courtroom, where the identical class
of investors will have to prove the same facts regarding the same defendants and their relationship with
the same company in order to recover damages to the same securities a issuein this courtroom. As
explained below, this request makes no sense, and would aso result in the unprecedented circumstance

in which the truth or falsity of the very same statements would have to be litigated in two separate

courtrooms. The motion should be denied.



As explained more fully below, severd of the clamsin the NY SCRF s Complaint pertain to the
public debt offerings by WorldCom in May 2000 and May 2001. In those claims, the NY SCRF
alegesthat certain defendants are liable under Sections 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933
(the “Securities Act”) for material misstatementsin connection with the registration statements for those
offerings. See Complaint Counts | through V. The Securities Act defendants include certain current
and former WorldCom officers and directors (Counts | and 11) and WorldCom’ s former auditors

(Count 111). But they dso indude eghteen underwriters for those bond offerings, including Sadlomon

(Counts 1V and V), afact that Defendants try to tissue over by, among other things, midabeling this
action asthe “WorldCom D& O Litigetion,” Defs. Br. sarigim, and omitting the word “underwriters’
whenever they lig the defendants whose conduct will be examined in thislitigation, see, eg., id. at 8,
15.

The Complaint setsforth in detall why Sdomon isliable under the Securities Act for materidly
fdse satements contained in the WorldCom regigtration satements. 1n sum, the NY SCRF' s
investigation devel oped abundant evidence that Sdlomon and WorldCom engaged in a secret, illicit quid
jpro guo relaionship, pursuant to which Salomon received WorldCom' s lucrative investment banking
business in return for agreeing to (a) issue extremdy positive andyst reports about WorldCom,
regardless of merit; (b) provide senior WorldCom executives with shares of vauable “hot IPO” shares;
and (¢) loan WorldCom CEO Bernard Ebbers several hundred million dollars. Lead Plaintiff alleges
that the regigtration statements were rendered false and mideading in part because they failed to
disclose the myriad conflicts of interest that permeated the WorldCom-Salomon relationship. Indeed,

the investigation yielded evidence that these misstatements were made with scienter. With that evidence



of scienter in hand, the NY SCRF added additional claims against the SSB Defendants in connection
with the regidtration satements, namely, Count IX and, in part, Count XI, which assart clams arising
under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”).!

Notably, the SSB Defendants do not move to sever either Counts 1V or V. They thus concede
that the issue of whether Sdlomon has liability for the regidtration satements will be litigated in this
courtroom. By their motion, however, the SSB Defendants would have the Court sever other dams

based on those very same regigtration statements (Count 1X and, in part, Count X1) and have those

damslitigated in another courtroom -- in the so-called “andys” litigation.

The request to trandfer the clamsthat actudly do pertain to analyst reports (Count X and, in
part, Count XI) is aso aguarantee of highly duplicative litigation. That is because the same evidence
which demondtrates that Sdlomon is liable under Section 10(b) for the regigtration statements will dso
establish Sdomon’sliability under Section 10(b) for Grubman’s andyst reports.

Faced with the chdlenge of explaining how splitting these claims could possibly be consistent
with notions of judicid efficiency, the SSB Defendants opt to pass, and spend most of thelr brief urging
the Court not to congder the merits of whether Counts IX through X1 are more gppropriady litigated
in this courtroom. No such examination is warranted, they say, because thereis “law of the casg” that

has dready predetermined the desired outcome. Defs. Br. a 1-2, 5-8, 11-13.

! In Count X1, the NY SCRF aleges that Sdomon, as a control person of Grubman, and

Citigroup, as a control person of Sadlomon, are each liable under Section 20(a) with respect to both the
registration statements and the andy<t reports.



Defendants overreach. As explained below, the prior orders on which they rely are hardly the
“door closing” rgections of Lead Plaintiff’s pogtion that Defendants would prefer. Indeed, the only
order that even mentions the NY SCRF sview (the MDL order) explicitly |eft the door open for the
judges of this Didtrict to organize these cases “in an appropriate fashion on their own.” Further, as set
forth below, the law of the case doctrine does not gpply to preliminary, nonconclusive determinations
such as consolidation orders.

Moreover, it is now apparent that the MDL order -- and the other orders, to the extent they
can be interpreted as gpeaking to thisissue —relied on a key factud representation that Defendants
have effectively abandoned in their present motion: the notion that the factud and legd issuesin the
WorldCom Securities Litigation are “largdly distinct” from those in the WorldCom-related andyst cases
(the “WorldCom Andyst Cases’). Defendants now assert that the Complaint has three clams with a
core of common facts that requires they be litigated together: Counts IX, X, and XI1. Although
Defendants papers repeatedly mischaracterize this group of dams as“andys clams” it has now been
reveded that when they say “andyst clams,” the SSB Defendants redly mean “anays clams plus the
WorldCom regidration statements.” That definition was not shared with Y our Honor, Chief Judge
Mukasey, Judge Martin, Judge Jones, the MDL pand, or anyone ese prior to thefiling of this motion
late last month. Even if the Court were to ignore dl of the additiond facts that have come to light Since
the earlier orders were issued (and as explained below, it should not), the notion that the “law of the
casg’ prohibits the Court from eva uating the merits of Lead Plantiff’ s arguments should be rgjected —
particularly when the key premise proffered by Defendants to obtain the purportedly dispositive orders

has been abandoned.



The SSB Defendants raise, but do not press, two other arguments in favor of severance.
Defendants argue that the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, 15 U.S.C. §78u-

4 (3)(A) (the"PSLRA™) precludes the NY SCRF from prosecuting the andyst clams (and apparently
a least one regidration satement clam) as part of the WorldCom Securities Litigation because there
has not yet been alead plaintiff appointed in the WorldCom Andyst Cases. Defs. Br. a 13-14. Asa
legd argument, thisis frivolous; there is nothing in the PSLRA which prohibits a duly gppointed lead
plantiff from asserting dl clamsthat the Class may assart againg a particular defendant. Asapractica
meatter, the argument is essentidly moot; there is no opposition to the NY SCRF s pending motion to be
appointed lead plaintiff in the WorldCom Andyst Cases.

The PSLRA argument does serve one useful purposg, in that its placement as the second
argument point underscores the lack of substance to Defendants’ third point -- the supposed judicia
efficiency to be obtained if the motion were granted. Defs. Br. a 14-15. Contrary to what the SSB
Defendants add at the very end of their brief, granting their motion would not foster judicid economy,
but would instead result in duplicative, piecemed litigation which will prgjudice the Class and burden the
Court. 1t would dso preudice the Class to split off asignificant part of the litigation developing so
rapidly in this courtroom -- where motions to dismiss are about to be filed, discovery is underway, and
the settlement process has begun -- and send it to alitigation that, for amyriad of reasons, does not
even have adate for alead plaintiff hearing.

In sum, the five clamsfiled by the NY SCRF againgt the SSB Defendants are interrelated with
each other and with those againgt other defendants and should be prosecuted together, in this

Courtoom.



PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. The Origin of the WorldCom SecuritiesLitigation

On April 30, 2002, the first of approximately twenty class actions asserting securities law clams
againgt WorldCom, certain of its senior officers and directors, its outside accounting firm, Arthur
Andersen LLP, and certain underwriters of offerings of WorldCom securities was filed in this Didtrict.

See Albert Fadem Trust v. WorldCom, Inc., 02 Civ. 3288 (DLC), dip op. a 4-5 (S.D.N.Y. July 12,

2002). The Fadem case (and cases subsequently filed in the WorldCom Securities Litigation) asserted
clams pursuant to the Securities Act and the Exchange Act on behalf of purchasers of WorldCom
securities over the past three years. Salomon was specifically named as a defendant in anumber of
these cases under Section 11 of the Securities Act, in connection with its role as lead underwriter for
two WorldCom bond offerings that occurred during the Class Period.

Pursuant to the PSLRA, the plaintiff in Fadem caused a notice of the action to be published,
and lead plaintiff motionsin that and subsequently-filed cases againg WorldCom were due on Jduly 1,
2002. Inresponse to that notice, nine lead plaintiff motions were filed, including one by the NY SCRF,
which suffered, by far, the largest loss of any movant -- over $300 million.

By Order dated August 15, 2002, this Court gppointed the NY SCRF as Lead Plaintiff for the
Class of purchasers of WorldCom stock and bonds in the WorldCom Securities Litigation. See Albert

Fadem Trust v. WorldCom, Inc., 02 Civ. 3288 (DLC), dip op. a 4, 6 (SD.N.Y. Aug. 15, 2002).

The Court’s order so consolidated the individua WorldCom securities actions pursuant to Fed. R.

Civ. P. 42(a), id. at 1; created a Master File for the consolidated cases (In re WorldCom., Inc.

Securities Litigation, Master File No. 02 Civ. 3288 (DLC)), id. at 1-3; approved the NY SCRF's




choice of the two undersigned law firms as Co-Lead Counsd for the Class, id. at 6; and set October
11, 2002 as the deadline for the filing of the NY SCRF's complaint in the consolidated action, id. at 7.
B. TheWorldCom Analyst Cases

Beginning on May 14, 2002, a number of cases brought on behdf of WorldCom securities
holders againgt Sdlomon and Grubman were commenced in this Didrict. These cases are among the
cases that are now before Judge Jones, as part of the Sdlomon Analyst Litigation. The WorldCom
Andys Cases assart cdlams againgt Salomon and Grubman on behdf of purchasers of WorldCom
securities under the Exchange Act based on the andyst reports regarding WorldCom issued by
Salomon over the past three years. Like the WorldCom Securities Litigation, the WorldCom Andyst
Cases dleged violations of the federd securities laws againgt Sdlomon in connection with public
gatements Salomon made regarding WorldCom during roughly the same time period, and were
brought on behaf of substantialy the same class. Nevertheless, these cases were not identified as
related cases when filed, and were not assigned to Y our Honor. Rather, these cases were whedled out

to various judges. Thefirst case, Sngleton v. Sdomon Smith Barney, 02 Civ. 3687, was assigned to

Judge Kaplan.

The plantiff in Singleton caused a notice to be published advising class membersthat lead
plaintiff motions were required to be filed by July 12, 2002. There were five motions filed in response
to the natice published by the plaintiff in Singleton, including amation by the NY SCRF. The

NY SCRF slead plaintiff motion in Singleton was filed as a precautionary measure in the event that the



WorldCom Anayst Cases were treated separately from the WorldCom Securities Litigation.?
Conggtent with its podition here, the NY SCRF argued that (1) due to the substantia overlap of factud
and legd issues in the WorldCom Anayst Cases and the WorldCom Securities Litigation, these two
sets of actions should be consolidated, and (2) if the Court deemed it appropriate to keep the
WorldCom Andyst Cases separate from the WorldCom Securities Litigation, it should gppoint the
NY SCRF to serve asthe lead plaintiff and gpprove its selection of lead counsd. Of the five movantsin
the WorldCom Analyst Cases, the NY SCRF again had, by far, the largest financid interest in the case,
Briefing on the lead plaintiff motions in the WorldCom Andyst Cases was completed with the filing of
reply briefs on August 8, 2002.

By August 2002, many (but far from al) of the WorldCom Anadyst Cases had been assigned to
Judge Kaplan. On August 15, 2002, Judge Kaplan entered an order (attached to the Vigeland Decl.
as Ex. H) consolidating twenty of those cases, one of which was a case brought on behdf of investors
of Globa Crossng againgt Sdomon and Grubman (together with other such cases, the “ Globa
Crossng Andyst Cases’). The Order noted that consolidation of the WorldCom Andyst Cases with
each other was “unopposed,” but did not address the NY SCRF s request to consolidate the
WorldCom Andyst Cases with the WorldCom Securities Litigation. Id. at 5. Judge Kaplan's August
15 Order was entered without the filing of any motion seeking the consolidation that was ordered

therein, and without any ord argument (though severd letters for and againgt such consolidation had

2 A copy of this notice of motion and the memorandum of law in support thereof are attached as

Exhibits C and F, respectively, to the Declaration of Peter K. Vigeland dated November 21, 2002
(“Vigdand Decl.), submitted with the SSB Defendants motion.

8



been separately submitted to Chief Judge Mukasey). On August 16, 2002, again without the filing of
motions or ora argument, Judge Kaplan entered a second order consolidating the WorldCom Anadyst
Cases with additiond Globa Crossing Analyst Cases and one case filed againgt Salomon and Grubman
on behdf of purchasers of securitiesissued by Wingar. See Vigedand Decl., Ex. I. Judge Kaplan later
established September 11, 2002 as the date for hearings on lead plaintiff motions filed in connection
with these cases, but recused himself the morning of the hearing. The action was subsequently
reassigned to Judge Martin.

On October 9, 2002, Judge Martin held a conference a which heindicated his preference that
each of the various issuer-related sets of cases be represented by its own lead plaintiff, and ordered
that parties seeking appointment as lead plaintiff in the various issuer-related Salomon Anayst Cases
could submit papers by November 1, 2002. See Vigeland Decl. Ex. N. a 33-34. In acolloquy with
NY SCRF s counsd at that hearing, Judge Martin noted that there were no court orders precluding the
NY SCRF from asserting any clamsiit believed were warranted againg either Sdomon or Grubman,
including clams arising out of Grubman’s andys reports, in its Complaint in the WorldCom Securities
Litigation. 1d. at 9.

On November 1, 2002, the NY SCRF submitted to Judge Martin amemorandum in support of
(a) transfer of dl WorldCom Analyst Casesto Y our Honor, or, in the dternative (b) appointment of the
NY SCRF as lead plaintiff in the WorldCom Anadyst Cases. See Vigdand Dedl. Ex. L. The NY SCRF
argued that the claims asserted againgt Salomon in the WorldCom Andyst Cases were inextricably
linked with the claims asserted againgt Sdomon in the WorldCom Securities Litigation, and that forcing

the Classto litigate its claims againgt Sdomon in two different courtrooms would prejudice the Class



and wastejudicid resources. On November 15, 2002, Sdlomon filed a memorandum in opposition to
the NY SCRF s mation for transfer, to which the NY SCRF replied on November 22, 2002. That
motion is now fully briefed and sub judice.

On November 14, 2002, the WorldCom Analyst Cases, as well as the other cases
consolidated with the Sdlomon Anadyst Litigation, were reassgned to Judge Jones.
C. Proceedings Befor e the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation

In addition to the filing of class action cases againg WorldCom in this Didtrict, there were dso
WorldCom-related securities and ERISA casesfiled in saverd other district courts throughout the
country. Three motions were filed with the Judicid Pand on Multidigtrict Litigation (the "MDL Pand™)
for centraization of forty-two such actions pending in federa digtrict courts, with various participants
advocating that the cases be centralized in this Didrict, the Southern Digtrict of Missssippi, the
Northern Didtrict of Cdlifornia, and the Digtrict of Columbia

On October 8, 2002, the MDL Pandl issued an order (the “MDL Order”) holding that both the
securities and ERISA casesfiled on behdf of WorldCom stock and bond purchasers against
WorldCom and other defendants, including Salomon and Grubman, throughout the country should be

centralized in this Didtrict. See In re WorldCom, Inc. Securities & “ERISA” Litigation, MDL-1487,

dipop. a 3 (JP.M.L. Oct. 8, 2002) (attached to Vigeland Dedl. as Ex. K).
The MDL Order did not direct transfer of two of the WorldCom Anayst Casesto Y our

Honor. See Garngr v. Sdlomon Smith Barney. Inc., 02 Civ. 4038; Spangler v. Sdomon Smith Barney,

Inc., 02 Civ. 4087. Rather, the MDL Pand dtated that while there may be some overlap between the

two sets of cases, there were factua and legd issues in the WorldCom Securities Litigation that were

10



likely to be distinct from issues regarding the conduct of Grubman in the Sdomon Analyst Cases. 1d. at
2. The MDL Pand further noted that various analyst cases pending against Sdomon had aready been
consolidated before ajudge other than Y our Honor, and that inclusion of the WorldCom Anadyst Cases
with the securities case “would disrupt this structure dready established in the transferee didtrict.” 1d.

In the end, however, the MDL Panel Ieft the handling of these cases to the discretion of Y our Honor
and (now) Judge Jones, stating that “to the extent any coordination between the 'andyst’ actions and the

MDL-1487 actions becomes desirable, the involved judges within the transferee digtrict may address

that matter in an appropriate fashion on their own.” 1d. (emphasis added).

D. The Pending Salomon-Related ActionsIn ThisDistrict
Are Before No Fewer than Nine Different Judges

The SSB Defendants seek to create the impression that there is some monolithic structure
whereby dl andyst-related cases pending againgt Salomon, Citigroup and Grubman are consolidated
before Judge Jones. Thisis not the case. There are currently approximately seventy-six such cases
pending against the SSB Defendants across the country, and twenty-eight of these -- 36% -- are not
before Judge Jones. See Declaration of John P. Coffey, dated December 10, 2002 (“ Coffey Decl.”),
Ex. A (liging actions).®

In this Didtrict alone, there are eight judges other than Judge Jones adjudicating SSB andyst
cases pertaining to various issuers. For example, three cases relating to Metromedia are pending

before Judge Batts, one is before Judge Buchwald, one is before Chief Judge Mukasey, and oneis

3 The SSB Defendants contend that approximately sixty-six cases are pending againgt them in
this Didtrict and various other jurisdictions, and that thirty-five of these actions are before Judge Jones.
Defs Br. a 5. The NY SCRF sresearch reveded that there are at least seventy-six such actions.

11



before Judge Duffy. 1d. Similarly, Judge Cedarbaum is presiding over four cases pertaining to Williams
Communications Group, Inc. 1d. There aretwo casesinvolving AT& T assigned to Judge Patterson,
and one assigned to Judge Buchwald. Id. Judge Pollack is presiding over the only case pertaining to
Rhythms NetConnections, Inc. 1d. And Judge Kodtl is presiding over acasereaing to XO
Communications, Inc. Id. Inaddition, nine casesin this Didtrict have yet to be assgned. Accordingly,
Defendants argument that this Court should not disturb the present “structure’ governing the SSB
Andyst Casesfails, because it presupposes a structure which does not exit.
E. The NYSCRF s Complaint in the WorldCom Securities Litigation

As noted above, on October 11, 2002, the NY SCRF filed the Complaint in the underlying
WorldCom Securities Litigation. The Complaint asserts clams on behaf of al persons and entities that
purchased or acquired publicly traded securities (stocks or bonds) of WorldCom between April 29,
1999 and June 25, 2002 (the “Class Period”). The claims are brought pursuant to Sections 11 and
12(8)(2) of the Exchange Act on behdf of purchasers of WorldCom bonds, and pursuant to Section
10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act on behaf of purchasers of WorldCom stock and bonds againg,
among others, Salomon, Grubman and Citigroup.

Specificaly, with respect to the SSB Defendants, the Complaint asserts clams against
(1) Sdomon for violations of Sections 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act in connection with the false
and mideading regigration statements (Counts 1V and V, respectivey); (2) Sdomon and Grubman for
violaions of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act in connection with those same fase and mideading
registration statements (Count 1X); Salomon and Grubman for violations of Section 10(b) of the

Exchange Act in connection with the fase and mideading andyst reports issued regarding WorldCom

12



(Count X); and Citigroup and Salomon for violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act in
connection with both the registration statements and the anayst reports (Count X1). The SSB
Defendants have not moved to sever Counts 1V or V, thereby conceding that Salomon is properly
named as a defendant in thislitigation.

As demongtrated in the Complaint and discussed further below, the NY SCRF conducted an
extendve investigation and discovered (and continues to discover) sgnificant new information not
previoudy disclosed in any WorldCom, Sdlomon, Grubman or Citigroup published report, in any media
report, or in any indictment, complaint, or pleadlocution. Indeed, the mediareaction to information
firgt ared in the Complaint demonstrates the depth of the NY SCRF's investigation and the importarnt,

previoudy undisclosed factsit has unearthed to date. See, eq., J. Weil, An Ebbers Firm Got Citigroup

Loans, Wall St. J., Oct. 14, 2002, at A3; Citigroup Is Sued Over WorldCom Ties, Assoc. Press, Oct.

14, 2002; Fund Sues Ebbers, Citigroup, Bloomberg News, Oct. 15, 2002; WorldCom Ex-CFO

Received More 1PO Profits, Suit Says, Bloomberg News, Oct. 16, 2002 (collectively attached to the

Coffey Decl. asEx. B).

The Complaint plainly identified who had been named in each Count and why. Although the
SSB Defendants contend that certain Counts in the Complaint congtituted an “end run” around severd
judicid rulings, they were not girred to file their motion to sever until Sx weeks later, shortly before

motions to dismiss were due.
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ARGUMENT
A. The SSB Defendants Fail to Satisfy The Standard For Severing Claims

The decision whether to sever a party or aclam iswithin the discretion of the district court.

German by German v. Federal Home Loan Mortg. Corp., 896 F. Supp. 1385, 1400 (S.D.N.Y.

1995). In deciding whether severance is gppropriate, courts generadly consider (1) whether the issues
sought to be tried separately are dgnificantly different from one another, (2) whether the separable
issues require the testimony of different witnesses and different documentary proof, (3) whether the
party opposing the severance will be prgudiced if it is granted, and (4) whether the party requesting the

severance will be prgiudiced if it isnot granted. |d.; accord Hal Leonard Publ. Corp. v. Future

Generations, Inc., 1994 WL 163987, at *1-2 (SD.N.Y. April 22, 1994): SEC v. Parnes, 2001 WL

1658275, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 26, 2001).

As st forth below, severing Counts IX through X1 would neither serve the interests of justice
nor further the prompt and efficient resolution of thislitigation. There are numerous questions of law
and fact common to Lead Plaintiff’s clams againgt the SSB Defendants and the other defendants. For
example, a any trid in this matter, Counts IV and V will require the NY SCRF to prove that the
regidration statementsissued in connection with the bond offerings were materiadly fase and mideading,
and that those filings were rendered false and mideading in part because they failed to disclose the
myriad conflicts of interest that pervaded the WorldCom-Sdlomon relationship. Similarly, Lead Plaintiff
will need to prove that SAlomon had a duty to disclose these conflicts, that the conflicts were materid,

and that Salomon’ s statements about WorldCom inflated the price of WorldCom's publicly traded
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securities. As explained more fully in section B below, these same facts will need to be established for
Counts X and (in part XI), regardiess of whether the motion to sever is granted.

Proof of these pointsin al of the daimswould require the testimony of the same witnesses and
the presentation of the same evidence. Thus, for example, document discovery will clearly overlap, and
Jack Grubman and other members of his team will still be key witnessesin the WorldCom Securities
Litigation. To require plaintiffs to prove these points a separate trids involving the same defendant
“would be repetitious, prolong the ultimate termination of thislitigation, and place an unnecessary

burden” on plaintiffs. German by German, 896 F. Supp. at 1401. In addition, severance of these

clamswould pose a“dgnificant danger of inconsstent judgments’ in the separate actions. 1d.

In contrast to the substantid prejudice that would inure to plaintiffsif these claims were severed,
the SSB Defendants do not set forth any prejudice to them that would result if the motion to sever is
denied. Asexplained in the next section, they could not reasonably do so.

B. All of the Claims Asserted in the Complaint Against the SSB Defendants Are
Inextricably Related, and their Prosecution in Two Different Courtrooms Would
Pregudicethe Classand Waste Judicial Resour ces
Contrary to the SSB Defendants contention (see Defs. Br. at 2, 16), severing Counts I X

through XI would result in duplicative, piecemed litigation, that would waste judicid resources and

prejudice the Class.

Firdt, as demongrated in the Complaint, the facts and evidence on which Lead Plaintiff will rely
to establish Sdomon' s liahility for the fase regidtration statements are the same facts and evidence

which will be used to establish that the analyst reports issued by Sdomon and Grubman regarding

WorldCom were materidly false and mideading. The Complaint aleges that both the registration
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satements and the anadyst reports were false for the same reason: they each failed to disclose the
myriad conflicts of interest that permegated the nefarious relationship between and among the SSB
Defendants, WorldCom and WorldCom' s top executive officers* Compare, eg., Complaint {1 202
& 240 (regigration statements) with 1] 273, 454 (anayst reports).

Specificaly, the Complaint aleges that the SSB Defendants, WorldCom and its top executive
officers entered into anillicit, multi-faceted quid pro guo arrangement to defraud investors who relied
on the dleged integrity of Sdlomon’s underwriting process and the independence of Sdlomon's
research. The Complaint dleges that, in exchange for the promise of lucrative investment banking
business from WorldCom, Salomon provided WorldCom with
congstently favorable analyst reports to bolster its stock price, and provided WorldCom' s top
executives, like Bernard Ebbers, its former CEO, and Scott Sullivan, its former CFO, with substantial
persond benefits, including generous dlocations of sharesin “hot” initid public offerings underwritten by
Salomon and hundreds of millions of dollars of loans for Ebbers persond use. Complaint 1 221-287.
The fact that this secret, illicit relationship was never disclosed to the investing public is a the core of
each dlegation asserted againgt the SSB Defendants in the Complaint -- both as to the registration

gatements and the anayst reports.

4 Sdomon'simplicit contention that Grubman's anaysts reports have nothing to do with
WorldCom's fraudulent financia statements (see Defs. Br. a 13-14) iswithout merit. Fird, as detailed
in the Complaint, Sdomon, among others, ignored numerous red flags that indicated the falSity of
WorldCom's financid statements. Second, during the Class Period Grubman changed his methodology
for analyzing WorldCom (and WorldCom done) in away that concealed the growing wesknesses in
WorldCom's cash flow results. Third, the Grubman reports reiterated and effectively vouched for
WorldCom, its reported results and its earnings projections. Thus, Grubman's reports are inextricably
intertwined with the materidly fdse and mideading financid statementsissued by WorldCom.
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Consequently, if the motion is granted, the Class would be severely prgjudiced, because
plaintiffs would have to prove the same st of facts—i.e, thisquid pro quo arrangement —twice, in two
different courtrooms. This scenario would aso waste judicia resources, because there would be two
sets of motions to dismiss that will involve the same set of facts and subgtantidly smilar issues, pardld,
duplicative discovery; duplicative summary judgment motions and perhaps even duplicate jury trias®

Second, though Defendants are careful not to draw attention to it, their motion asks the Court
to take the remarkable step of ensuring that the same gtatements are being litigated before two different
judges. The SSB Defendants do not dispute that they will be required to litigate the truth or falsity of
the regidration satements in this courtroom, by virtue of being named in the Securities Act clamsin
Counts |V and V. By their request, however, these Defendants aso want to litigate the truth or falsity
of thoseidentical statements a second time, before Judge Jones, in connection with Count IX and (in
part) Count XI. Therdief requested is unprecedented, cannot be squared with any precept of judicia
economy, and triggers the risk of inconsstent results. The Class should not be required to proveits

clams rdating to the registration statements pursuant to Sections 11 and Section 12(a)(2) in one

5 Thedecisonin Hallwood Redlty Partners, L. P. v. Gotham Partners, L.P., 104 F. Supp. 2d
279 (SD.N.Y. 2000) is particularly ingtructive here. In that case, plaintiffs aleged that defendants
engaged in a scheme to defraud in violation of the Exchange Act, and one of the defendants moved to
sever the dams assarted againgt it. The court denied the motion, holding that the issuesinvolving the
moving defendant and the other defendants were closely rated, and that the proof againgt the moving
defendant would overlap sgnificantly with the proof againg the other defendants. In particular, the
Court emphasized the prgjudice that would result if plaintiffs were forced to prove the fraudulent
scheme in two separate litigations, holding that plaintiffs would be "prgudiced substantidly if the case
againg [the moving defendant] were severed, asit would be forced to litigate the existence of the
scheme in two separate fora” 1d. a 288. Precisdly likein Halwood, dl of the dams againgt Sdomon
are intertwined, and if the motion hereis granted, the Class will be forced to litigate the existence of the
scheme -- theillicit relationship between Salomon and WorldCom -- in two separate fora.
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courtroom, and then prove its clams relaing to the same regidtration statements but brought pursuant to
Section 10(b) in another courtroom — particularly when so many of the key factud predicates are
common to each of theselegd clams.

Third, by asking this Court to sever Count 1X (the Section 10(b) clamsrelated to the
registration statements) together with the claims predicated on the analyst reports, the SSB Defendants
themsalvesimplicitly recognize that, contrary to their previous assartions, the claims based on the
registration statements and the andyst reports are inextricably interreated, flow from the same nexus of
events, and should be kept together. 1n much less compelling circumstances, that is, when the principa
common eements are IMply the securities at issue and a common nucleus of fact, courts have held that

consolidation of related cases was appropriate. See Werner v. Satterlee, Stephens, Burke & Burke,

797 F. Supp. 1196, 1211 (S.D.N.Y. 1992) (consolidating securities fraud action against alaw firm,
which assigted in the preparation of a company’ s registration statement and prospectus, with the
underlying securities action against the company and various brokerages where the cases presented

“numerous common issues of law and fact”); see dso Aronson v. McKesson HBOC, Inc., 79 F. Supp.

2d 1146, 1151 (N.D. Cd. 1999) (consolidating fifty-three securities class action lawsuits predicated on

the same et of false and mideading Satements by various defendants); In re Olsten Corp. Sec. Litig., 3

F.Supp. 2d 286, 293 (E.D.N.Y . 1998) (consolidating four securities fraud actions where “the plaintiffs
in the four complaints rey upon the same series of dlegedly fase and mideading public satements and
omissons’ againg various defendants). Here, of course, there is an additiond, critical element of

commonadlity -- the clams at issue are againgt the same defendants.
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Fourth, the present Action is at afar more advanced stage than the Sdomon Anay Litigation,
and granting the motion would further prgudice the Class by ddaying the fina resolution of the clams
that the SSB Defendants seek to sever. The Sdomon Andyst Litigation has dready been reassigned
twice and is now before its third judge, and no lead plaintiffs have yet been gppointed in that action. By
contrast, in this Action, the NY SCRF filed its Complaint nearly two months ago, and defendants
responses to the Complaint are due December 13, 2002. In addition, the NY SCRF has aready
obtained the right to production of documents that WorldCom previoudy produced to governmenta
agencies, which should occur in the near future. Findly, at this Court’s Order, the NY SCRF, on behdf
of dl Class members, and dl defendants (including Salomon, Grubman and Citigroup) have dready
commenced settlement proceedings under the auspices of Magistrate Judge Dolinger. Severance of
Counts I X through XI will undoubtedly prejudice the Class by substantidly delaying the recovery to the
Class rdating to the dlegations asserted in these counts.

C. The*Law of the Case” Doctrine Does Not Bar Assertion of Counts|X Through XI In
ThisLitigation

The SSB Defendants argument that the “law of the cass” doctrine precludes Lead Plaintiff
from asserting dl of the claims the Class has against them overstates what has occurred -- and ignores
that their own motion obviates any reliance on this doctrine,

Asaninitid matter, it should be noted that neither Y our Honor, Judge Kaplan, Judge Martin,
nor Judge Jones ever heard ora argument or addressed, at a hearing or in awritten order or opinion,
whether, in asserting its daims againg Sdomon in this litigation, the NY SCRF must exclude clams

predicated on false statements in Grubman’s analyst reports. As noted above, Judge Martin saw no
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such obstacle when the subject arose a the October 9 conference. Further, as noted above, while the
MDL Order did not consolidate the cases, the MDL Pand specifically Ieft it up to the involved judges
in this Digtrict to address coordination of the two cases “in an gppropriate fashion on their own.”
Vigeland Dedl., Ex. K a 2. Findly, no court ever considered, or was ever asked to consider, whether
Section 10(b) clams related to the registration statements asserted againgt the SSB Defendantsin the
WorldCom Securities Litigation should be prosecuted separately from Sections 11 and 12(a)(2) claims
asserted againg Sdlomon on the same statements. Thus, for dl of the SSB Defendants' recitation of
the procedural background (Defs. Br. at 5-8), the fact is that no court has ever ruled on the question
presented by this motion. Consequently, there isno “law of the casg” on point to support the SSB
Defendants ingstence that the Court avert its eyes from the merits.

Moreover, even if the preliminary orders on which the SSB Defendants rely could be construed
as rgecting the NY SCRF s pogition on the merits, the “law of the casg’ doctrine haslittle, if any,
goplication here. “Preiminary or tentative rulings do not establish law of the case” 18B Wright, Miller

& Cooper, Federa Practice and Procedure, 8 4478.5 (2d ed. 2002). Asthe circumstances of related

cases change, adigtrict court may exercise its discretion in deciding and/or re-visiting pre-trid

procedura issues such as consolidation. See St. Bernard Gen. Hosp. Inc. v. Hosp. Serv. Assn of

New Orleans, Inc., 712 F.2d 978, 989-90 (5th Cir. 1983) (directing district court to reconsider motion

to consolidate in light of changes in circumstances of case); see dso Republic Ins. Co. v. Maders,

Mates & PRilots Penson Plan, 77 F.3d 48, 53 (2d Cir. 1996) (an order requiring an insurer to furnish

defense costs was "preliminary in nature” and did not condtitute law of the case); In re Evangdine

Refining Co., 890 F.2d 1312, 1321-22 (5th Cir. 1989) (law of case doctrine does not apply to such
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matters asinterim fee awards). In any event, asthe Court of Appeds stated in Virgin Airways, Ltd. v.

Nat'| Mediation Bd., 956 F.2d 1245, 1255 (2d Cir. 1992), the law of the case doctrineis “admittedly

discretionary and does not limit a court's power to reconsider its own decisions prior to final judgment.”
Findly, even if the“law of the cass” doctrine did gpply, Salomon itself recognizes that orders

condtituting the law of the case may be modified or reversed when, among other circumstances, there is

new evidence of record or to prevent manifest injustice. See Defs. Br. at 12, citing Egghead.com v.

Brookhaven Capital Mgmt. Co., 194 F. Supp. 2d 232, 237-38 (S.D.N.Y. 2002); see also Casey v.

United States, 161 F. Supp. 2d 86, 91-93 (D. Conn. 2001) (court reconsidered statute of limitations
decision based on development of more complete record and the need to prevent manifest injustice);

Pineiro v. Penson Benefit Guar. Corp., 96 Civ. 7392 (LAP), 1999 WL 195131, at *2 (SD.N.Y.

Apr. 7, 1999) (court took "fresh look™ at prior dismissa of claim prompted by amended complaint and

new materias submitted to court); Religious Tech. Cir. v. Scott, 869 F.2d 1306, 1309-10 (Sth Cir.

1989) (court ruled that, in pre-trid settings, new alegations may play the same role as new evidence)).

Here, there is a plethora of new evidence -- conceded for years by Salomon, Grubman,
Citigroup, WorldCom, and senior WorldCom executives, but uncovered by the NY SCRF in its
investigation as Lead Paintiff in the WorldCom Securities Litigation -- that forms the basis of many of
the dlegations and claims asserted againgt Sdlomon, Citigroup and Grubman in the WorldCom

Securities Litigation.

6 Washington Nat'l Life Ins. Co. v. Morgan Stanley & Co., 974 F. Supp. 214 (S.D.N.Y. 1997),
the only other case cited by Defendants on thisissue, isingpposdite. That case involved the plaintiffs
motion to transfer the litigation to another digtrict court, the Digtrict of Nebraska, after the case had
aready been transferred to the Southern Didtrict of New York. Here, the WorldCom Analyst Cases
werefiled in this Didrict and will remain in this Didrict.
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The new evidence -- which the SSB Defendantsignore in their brief -- reveds a pernicious set
of inter-relationships between and among WorldCom, its CEO Ebbers, its CFO Sullivan, one of its
Directors (Kdlett), Sdlomon, Citigroup, Grubman, other investment banking personnel at Salomon, and
even Citigroup's Travelers Insurance unit, which, as noted above, made and arranged hundreds of
millions of dollars worth of loans to Ebbers for his own persond benefit.’

This new evidence makes clear that the factud basesto dlege that the analyst reports are false
are inextricably intertwined (and often identica) with the factud bases for the clams arising out of the
fdse regidration statements.

D. Assertion of the Disputed ClaimsIsNot Barred by the PSLRA

The SSB Defendants remaining argument -- that assertion of the disputed clamsin this Action
is barred by the PSLRA -- ismeritless.

Nothing in the PSLRA prohibits a duly appointed lead plantiff from asserting any and dl clams
of the Classin one case. Thisis precisely what alead plaintiff is obligated to do. Whilethe PSLRA
provides that consolidation motions are to be determined before motions for lead plaintiff gppointment,

see 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(a)(3)(b)(ii), once appointed, it remains the duty and responsbility of the Lead

! In its continuing investigation since October 11, the NY SCRF located records showing, among
other things, that Citigroup’s Travelers  unit actualy became an equity partner with Ebbersin a half-
billion dollar timber enterprise shortly before Salomon was sdlected to lead WorldCom’ s 2000 bond
offering. See G. Morgenson, New Y ork Times, “More Clouds Over Citigroup in its Dedlings With
Ebbers,” November 3, 2002 attached to Coffey Decl. as Ex. B. Neither the Travelers loans nor this
business relationship had been disclosed, and the various investigations by Congress, the Securities and
Exchange Commission, the Department of Justice, the New Y ork State Attorney Generd, the
Bankruptcy Examiner or others had apparently not uncovered it.
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Pantiff to file a comprehensve complaint that protects the interests of the Class members.

Here, the NY SCRF hasfulfilled its obligation by investigating and uncovering the many inter-
relationships between and among WorldCom, its executives and certain Board members, Salomon,
other Citigroup affiliates and various employees, including Grubman, and by asserting dams of the
Class on the basis of that investigation. The notion that the NY SCRF has standing to bring some, but
not al, dlaims on behdf of the Classit sarvesis specious® Moreover, the argument ignores the
practical reditiesin the WorldCom Analyst Cases. Thereis no opposition to the appointment of the
NY SCRF as lead plaintiff in those cases. Coffey Decl. 3.

Accordingly, there can be no dispute that the NY SCRF has the right under the PSLRA to
assat dl damsagang al defendantsin al WorldCom-related litigation.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the motion of the SSB Defendants to sever and transfer to Judge

Jones three of the five claims asserted againgt them in this Action should be denied.

8 Indeed, by asserting Counts 1X through X1 in the Complaint, the NY SCRF has protected the
Class from any argument that it had improperly "split" its causes of actions, which might make such
clams vulnerable to being barred by the "entire controversy™ doctrine or notions of collateral estoppe.
See, eq., Woodsv. Dunlop Tire Corp., 972 F.2d 36, 38-40 (2d Cir. 1992), and cases cited therein;
Dubuc v. Green Oak Township, 2002 WL 31680799, at *6-7 (6™ Cir. Dec. 2, 2002) (interpreting
date law rule againg splitting causes of actions); Sosebee v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 164 F.3d
1215 (9™ Cir. 1999) (same).
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